THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
DEC 06 2016
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000497

Samuel Rose, Claimant, Appellant,

v.

JJS Trucking, Uninsured Employer, and Chris Thompson Services,
Upstream Employer, and Bridgefield Casualty Ins. Co., Carrier for
Chris Thompson Services, and The State Accident Fund, Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephen B. Samuels
SAMUELS LAW FIRM, LLC
1320 Richland Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 779-4000
stephen@samuelslawfirm.net

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission erred in holding Appellant Samuel Rose was barred from receiving workers' compensation benefits by violating § 42-1-560(b) when Rose entered a voluntary dismissal of his third-party claim rendering the civil suit a nullity and curing any violation of § 42-1-560 pursuant to Callahan v. Beaufort County School Dist., 375 S.C. 92, 651 S.E.2d 312 (2007).

2. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission erred in refusing to admit the stipulation of dismissal into evidence, thus denying Rose due process of law pursuant to Callahan v. Beaufort County School Dist., 375 S.C. 92, 651 S.E.2d 312 (2007).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This workers' compensation appeal arises out of work-related injuries sustained by the Appellant, Samuel Rose, on August 10, 2011. Rose was a tractor-trailer driver. His truck was rear-ended by another motorist, Robbie Clark, while driving on I-26. Rose injured his head, knee, leg, back and neck in the accident. [R. pp. 1-11].

Past Procedural History:

Rose filed a claim for workers' compensation benefits. As his direct Employer, JJS Trucking, LLC, was uninsured, Rose sought benefits from the upstream statutory employer, Respondent Chris Thompson Services, LLC (hereafter "Chris Thompson Services"). Rose's Form 50 named JJS Trucking and Chris Thompson Services as Defendants in the claim.

On January 24, 2012, Chris Thompson Services and its insurance carrier, Bridgefield Casualty, filed a Form 51 denying the claim. Chris Thompson Services also filed a Petition to Transfer Liability to the South Carolina Uninsured Employers' Fund (UEF). The UEF was added as a party.

On May 15, 2012, a hearing was held before Commission Gene McCaskill. Commissioner McCaskill issued a Decision and Order dated August 23, 2012, wherein he found:

1. Samuel Rose was an employee of JJS Trucking on August 10, 2011.
 2. On August 10, 2011, Samuel Rose sustained an injury by accident to his head, knee, leg, back and neck arising out of and in the course of his employment with JJS Trucking.
- ***
5. As a result of his accident, Claimant is entitled to temporary total disability benefits beginning on August 10, 2011 and

continuing until such time as he reaches maximum medical improvement.

6. As a result of his accident, Claimant is entitled to an evaluation to determine the extent of his injuries and is entitled to ongoing medical treatment as prescribed by an authorized treating physician to be selected by the carrier.

8. On August 10, 2011, JJS Trucking was operating without proper insurance as required by the Workers' Compensation Act.
9. On August 10, 2011, JJS Trucking was operating as a subcontractor for Chris Thompson Services, LLC. Christ Thompson Services, LLC is an "upstream employer" pursuant to § 42-1-415.
10. Thompson Services, LLC is liable to pay Claimant all benefits to which he is entitled under the Act.

Commissioner McCaskill made the following Conclusion of Law:

7. Chris Thompson Services, LLC, asserted in its pleadings and at the Hearing that liability for this claim should be transferred to the South Carolina Uninsured Employer's Fund. § 42-1 415 only permits the higher tier contractor to petition the Commission to transfer responsibility for benefits to the UEF after it has paid all benefits due the Claimant under the Act. The evidence in the record indicates that Claimant has not received all benefits he is due under the Act from Chris Thompson Services, LLC, or its carrier. Therefore, the issue of transfer of responsibility to the UEF is not ripe for adjudication at this time.

Respondents timely filed a Form 30 (Notice of Appeal) to the Full Commission. On May 15, 2013, the Appellate Panel issued an Order summarily affirming Commissioner McCaskill's conclusion that the Petition for Transfer of Liability was "not ripe for adjudication."

Respondent Chris Thompson Services then appealed to this Court. The UEF appeared as Respondents in the initial appeal. After Final Briefs were filed, the Court directed the parties (Chris Thompson Services and the UEF) to file memoranda addressing whether Chris Thompson Services' Appeal should be dismissed under

Bone v. U.S. Food Serv., 404 S.C. 67, 73-74, 744 S.E.2d 552, 556 (2013)(“An agency decision which does not decide the merits of a contested case is not a final agency decision subject to judicial review.”).

The Court issued a published Opinion dismissing the appeal on February 27, 2015. Rose v. JJS Trucking, LLC, 768 S.E.2d 412, 411 S.C. 366 (Ct. App. 2015). The case was remitted to the Commission for further proceedings.

During the pendency of this first appeal, Chris Thompson Services paid temporary total disability benefits to Rose, but refused to provide medical treatment. See S. C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60 (2007)(“In case of an appeal from the decision of the commission on questions of law, the appeal does not operate as a supersedeas and, after that time, the employer is required to make weekly payments of compensation and to provide medical treatment ordered by the commission involved in the appeal or certification until the questions at issue have been fully determined in accordance with the provisions of this title.”).

Current Procedural History.

As the workers’ compensation case was pending, Robbie Clark filed a lawsuit against Rose in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on May 7, 2012. The lawsuit was styled Robbie Clark v. Samuel A. Rose, Case No. 2012-CP-10-2996. Clark was a driver for Chris Thompson Services. He was driving a truck following Rose on I-26, when he rear ended Rose’s truck causing Rose’s injuries. In his complaint, Clark alleged “due to Defendant’s [Rose] malfunctioning tail lights, Plaintiff struck the rear of Defendant’s tractor-trailer, thereby causing a collision and injuring Plaintiff.” [R. pp. 167-169].

Rose, through his insurance defense counsel, filed an Answer denying liability. On February 20, 2013, Rose filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaim adding a claim for personal injury due to Clark's negligence. [R. pp. 161-166]. Rose did not, at that time nor within 30 days of the February 20, 2013 compulsory counterclaim, file a Form S2.

Respondents filed a Form 21 seeking to terminate Rose's compensation alleging that he had reached MMI and required no further treatment (Rose disputed this allegation). A hearing was held before Commissioner Aisha Taylor on September 23, 2013.

On November 11, 2013 – prior to Commissioner Taylor making a ruling on the merits – Respondents filed a Motion to Introduce Newly Discovered Evidence. The additional evidence consisted of pleadings in the civil lawsuit filed by Clark against Rose. The documents were a (1) Summons and Complaint filed May 7, 2012, and (1) an Amended Answer and Counterclaim filed February 20, 2013. [R. pp. 158-160].

On November 21, 2013, Appellant Rose timely filed a Motion in Opposition to Introduce After Discovered Evidence. [R. pp. 170-172].

On November 25, 2013, Respondent Chris Thompson Services filed a Return to Motion in Opposition to Introduce After Discovered Evidence. [R. pp. 173-176].

On December 20, 2013, Appellant Rose filed Claimant's Motion to Introduce newly Discovered Evidence. The evidence sought to be introduced was a Stipulation of Dismissal without prejudice filed December 5, 2013 in Robbie Clark v. Samuel A. Rose, Case No. 2012-CP-10-2996.

On January 3, 2014, Commissioner Taylor issued three Administrative Orders addressing the motions. The commissioner granted Respondents' Motion to Introduce Newly Discovered Evidence. [R. pp. 12-13]. She also denied Claimant's Motion in opposition to Introduce After Discovered Evidence and denying Claimant's Motion to Introduce After Discovered Evidence. [R. pp. 14-17].

On January 14, 2014, Appellant Rose filed a Form 30 appealing Commissioner Taylor's rulings on the motions. [R. pp. 186-188].

On January 21, 2014, the Full Commission issued an order dismissing the appeal as interlocutory. [R. p. 18].

On February 10, 2014, Rose's separate third-party counsel filed a new Summons and Complaint in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. With the new Summons and Complaint, Rose filed and served a Form S2 dated February 11, 2014.

On September 2, 2014, Commissioner Taylor issued a Decision and Order. The single commissioner ruled that by failing to file a Form S2, the "Claimant has failed to satisfy the mandatory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 42-1-560." She further ruled "Because the Claimant has not followed the mandatory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 42-1-560, but has ignored them entirely, the Claimant has failed to preserve his right to proceed against the employer for additional benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act after the date he commenced the third-party action, February 20, 2013." As a result of these rulings, Commissioner Taylor held Respondents could terminate compensation as of the September 20, 2013 hearing and would have no further liability.

On September 11, 2014, Rose timely filed a Form 30 (Notice of Appeal) with the Commission. The Appellate Panel heard oral arguments on April 21, 2015.

On February 8, 2016, the Appellate Panel issued a Decision and Order affirming the single commissioner's Decision and Order.

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Samuel Rose was employed as a truck driver by JJS Trucking, LLC. JJS was a subcontractor for Chris Thompson Services, LLC.

On August 10, 2011, Rose was driving his 18-wheeler eastbound on I-26. Another 18-wheeler, driven by Robbie Clark, was traveling behind Rose's truck. Clark was employed by Chris Thompson Services. The truck Clark was driving was owned by Chris Thompson Services. [R. p. 109-110].

Rose slowed down for a construction zone ahead. Clark then rear-ended Rose, pushing Rose's truck into the concrete median wall. [R. p. 109-110].

Rose suffered serious injuries in the accident. His injuries included a traumatic brain injury with loss of consciousness; lacerations to both shins; fractured medial femoral condyle (femur); and injuries to his back and neck. [R. p. 44]. Dr. Wildstein recommended surgery to his neck – specifically a one-level C5-6 ACDF. [R. p. 105].

Rose filed a claim for workers' compensation benefits against his direct employer, JJS Trucking. JJS had allowed its workers' compensation insurance to lapse, so was operating as an uninsured employer in violation of the Workers' Compensation Act. Rose then proceeded against Chris Thompson Services (as his statutory employer) and the South Carolina Uninsured Employers' Fund (UEF).

The initial hearing was held before Commissioner Gene McCaskill. On August 23, 2012, Commissioner McCaskill ruled that Chris Thompson Services was the liable employer for Rose's claim. The commissioner ordered Chris Thompson

Services to pay temporary compensation and to provide evaluation and treatment for Rose's injuries.

Chris Thompson Services appealed the order, seeking to have liability transferred to the UEF on the grounds that the subcontractor and direct employer, JJS Trucking, had provided a fraudulent certificate of insurance. The appeal was dismissed an interlocutory.

While the appeal was pending, several events occurred. Robbie Clark filed a lawsuit against Rose in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on August 30, 2012. The lawsuit was styled Robbie Clark v. Samuel A. Rose, Case No. 2012-CP-10-2996. Clark was a driver for Chris Thompson Services. He was driving a truck following Rose on I-26, when he rear ended Rose's truck causing Rose's injuries. In his complaint, Clark alleged "due to Defendant's [Rose] malfunctioning tail lights, Plaintiff struck the rear of Defendant's tractor-trailer, thereby causing an collision and injuring Plaintiff." [R. pp. 167-169].

Rose, through his insurance defense counsel, filed an Answer denying liability. On January 2, 2013, Rose filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaim adding a claim for personal injury due to Clark's negligence. Rose did not, at that time nor within 30 days of the February 20, 2013 compulsory counterclaim, file a Form S2.

In the meantime, Rose had been seen for his injuries by an orthopaedic surgeon, Dr. Michael Wildstein, on November 23, 2011 and December 14, 2011. [R. pp. 101-104]. Dr. Wildstein recommended surgery to Rose's cervical spine.

Rose also obtained a second opinion from another orthopaedic surgeon. Dr. Steven Poletti, on July 15, 2013. Dr. Poletti agreed with Dr. Wildstein's recommendation for a surgical fusion. [R. pp. 107-108].

On August 23, 2012, the Single Commissioner ordered "Chris Thompson Services, LLC, through its carrier, Bridgefield Casualty Insurance Company, is liable for this claim and shall pay Claimant's medical treatment and temporary total disability benefits beginning August 10, 2011 and continuing through such time Claimant is able to return to work." [R. p. 11, lines 2-5]. The Appellate Panel affirmed. Despite the Commission's Order, Respondents provided no medical treatment.

On March 20, 2013, Respondents arranged a medical evaluation with a physical medicine doctor (not a spine surgeon), Dr. Gregory Jones. Dr. Jones opined Rose required no additional medical treatment and had reached maximum medical improvement.

Relying on the report from Dr. Jones, Respondents filed a Form 21 seeking to terminate Rose's compensation alleging that he had reached MMI and required no further treatment (Rose disputed this allegation). A hearing was held before Commissioner Aisha Taylor on September 23, 2013 *solely on these issues*.

On November 12, 2013 – before Commissioner Taylor issued a ruling on the merits – Respondents filed their Motion to Introduce Newly Discovered Evidence. In their Motion, Respondents moved the Commission to reach the "conclusion that the Claimant failed to satisfy the mandatory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-

560(b) and; therefore, he is not entitled to any additional workers' compensation benefits as a matter of law." [R. p. 158-169].

In response, Rose entered into a "Stipulation of Dismissal without Prejudice" of the lawsuit on December 5, 2013. [R. pp. 184-185]. Rose filed motions to oppose Respondents' motion and to introduce the stipulation of dismissal into the record. [R. pp. 173-185].

Commissioner Taylor denied Rose's motions. She granted Respondents motion and then issued an order holding Respondents could terminate compensation as of the September 20, 2013 hearing and would have no further liability. The Order was based on the purported violation of § 42-1-560(b).

ARGUMENT

1. The Commission erred in barring Rose from further workers' compensation benefits because the voluntary dismissal without prejudice of the underlying lawsuit cured any procedural defect.

In general, workers' compensation benefits are the exclusive remedy for an employee who suffers injuries on the job. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-540 (2007). The exception is if the employee's injuries result from the negligence of a third-party unconnected to the liable employer. In that case, the employee may also proceed in tort against the negligent third-party.

Should the employee pursue a civil case against a third-party tortfeasor, he must comply with the requirements of § 42-1-560. The statute states "Notice of the commencement of the action shall be given within thirty days thereafter to the Workers' Compensation Commission, the employer and carrier upon a form prescribed by the Workers' Compensation Commission." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560(b) (2007). The Commission requires the use of Form S-2. Callahan v. Beaufort County School Dist., 375 S.C. 92, 651 S.E.2d 312 (2007).

In the instant case, Rose did not commence the action. He was sued by an employee of Thompson Services, the liable statutory employer. Rose initially answered and then amended his Answer to include a counter-claim. The irony here is that Rose's counterclaim was effectively *void ab initio* as he had no third-part suit against his statutory employer or its employee. Furthermore, as its employee had sued and been sued, Thompson Services was on notice of the lawsuit from the very beginning.

Regardless of the lack of merit of the underlying suit, the fact remains that Rose did not file and serve a Form S-2 within 30 days of the counterclaim. In Callahan, the South Carolina Supreme Court held a lack of prejudice to the employer's subrogation rights is immaterial. The court reasoned "Because workers' compensation statutes provide an exclusive compensatory system in derogation of common law rights, we strictly construe the requirements of § 42-1-560 and leave it to the legislature to amend and define its ambiguities. Here, the statute clearly requires timely notice to be given to all three entities employer, carrier, and Commission on the Form S-2. Id. (internal citation omitted).

Even though the court held filing of the S-2 was mandatory, the court also affirmed the circuit court's finding that Callahan's workers' compensation claim should not be dismissed. The court quite properly recognized that "civil procedure and appellate rules should not be written or interpreted to create a trap for the unwary lawyer or party." Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004). Cf. Gamble v. State, 298 S.C. 176, 379 S.E.2d 118 (1989) (stating rules applicable to post-conviction relief actions should not be construed in manner which operate as a trap for the unwary or deprive an applicant of the adjudication on the merits of his original petition); Rule 1, SCRPC (civil procedure rules "shall be construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.")

Callahan was allowed to proceed on the merits of her workers' compensation claim. The court held:

In this case, Claimant voluntarily dismissed her third-party suit pursuant to Rule 41, FRCP. A voluntary dismissal leaves the situation as though no suit had ever been filed. 9 Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure 2d § 2367, at 321

(1995); Allen v. S. Ry. Co., 218 S.C. 291, 297-298, 62 S.E.2d 507, 511 (1950). Following this rule, the third-party suit originally filed in January 2003 became a nullity, and § 42-1-560 is not applicable. As a result, there is no violation of § 42-1-560 when the third-party suit is treated as never being filed.

Callahan v. Beaufort County School Dist., 375 S.C. 92, 651 S.E.2d 312 (2007).

The facts in Callahan are identical to the instant case. Here, Rose entered into a voluntary dismissal of the underlying lawsuit. Upon doing so, the third-party suit became a nullity. By following the procedure set forth in Callahan, Rose cured the procedural defect and eliminated any violation of § 42-1-560.

The Commission erred in failing to apply Callahan. This was a straightforward error of law which should be reversed by this Court. As he dismissed the third-party suit, Rose is entitled to proceed on the merits of his workers' compensation claim. The decision below should be reversed and remanded to the Appellate Panel with instructions to proceed on the merits of the underlying workers' compensation claim.

2. The Single Commissioner and Appellate Panel committed an error of law in granting the Respondents' Motion to Introduce Newly Discovered Evidence (Claimant's Answer and Counterclaim) and denying Appellant's Motion to Introduce Newly Discovered (Voluntary Dismissal of the lawsuit).

In admitting Respondents' new evidence and denying Rose the opportunity to rebut the new evidence (or even to be heard), the Commission committed an error of law, thus depriving Rose of due process. The Court can correct this error either by reversing the Commission's evidentiary ruling or by taking judicial notice of the fact Rose entered a stipulation of dismissal of the third-party lawsuit.

The hearing was set on a Form 21 filed by Chris Thompson Services. The issue raised on the pleadings was a “request to stop or terminate payment of temporary total disability benefits and determine whether the claimant is entitled to an award of permanency pursuant to statements of maximum medical improvement.” [R. p. 238, lines 17-21]. At no point during that hearing did Respondents raise an issue over election of remedies. The issue tried was a straightforward dispute over whether Rose had reached MMI with no need for further treatment (per Dr. Jones) or required surgery (per Drs. Wildstein and Poletti).

On November 12, 2013, Chris Thompson Services filed the Motion to Introduce Newly Discovered Evidence. Rose responded by dismissing the underlying tort suit and filing his own Motion to introduce newly discovered evidence.

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