RECEIVED

NOV 29 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION  
COMMISSION

The Honorable R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-000497  
W.C.C. 1112328

---

Samuel Rose, Claimant.....Appellant,

v.

JJS Trucking, LLC, Uninsured Employer, and Chris Thompson  
Services, Upstream Employer, and Bridgefield Casualty Ins. Co.,  
Carrier for Chris Thompson Services, and The State Accident  
Fund,.....Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS**

---

Kirsten L. Barr  
Trask & Howell, L.L.C.  
P.O. Box 2167  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465  
(843) 881-4228

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

### Arguments

**I. The Workers' Compensation Commission's conclusions of law with respect to the Claimant's entitlement to additional medical and compensation benefits are the law of the case.**

The Claimant did not appeal conclusions of law numbers 4, 5, 6, 7, or 8 of the Hearing Commissioner's Decision and Order in his Form 30, nor did he raise any exception to these conclusions in his brief to the Appellate Panel. (R. pp. 189-92, pp. 193-207). Similarly, the Claimant raises no argument with respect to these conclusions of law in his brief to the Court of Appeals. These conclusions deal with the Claimant's entitlement to benefits under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-210, 42-9-260, 42-15-60, 42-9-10, 42-9-20, and 42-9-30; yet none of these statutes are ever mentioned in the Claimant's Form 30, his brief to the Appellate Panel, or his brief to the Court of Appeals. (R. pp. 189-92, pp. 193-207). Quite simply, the Claimant makes no argument with regard to the proper application of these statutes and; therefore, the following conclusions are the law of the case:

- Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 42-9-210, any and all compensation payments made by the Defendants to the Claimant after February 20, 2013, the date on which he commenced his third-party action without notice to the Defendants or the Commission, were not due and payable as a result of the Claimant's failure to comply with the mandatory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 42-1-560.
- Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 42-9-260, the Defendants are entitled to terminate temporary disability compensation effective the date of the hearing, September 23, 2013.
- Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 42-15-60, the Defendants shall have no liability for any additional medical care or treatment under the workers' Compensation Act.
- Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 42-9-10, Sec. 42-9-20, and Sec. 42-9-30, the Claimant is not entitled to, and the Defendants shall have no liability for, any benefits for permanent disability or loss of use under the Workers' Compensation Act.
- Pursuant to S.C. Code Sec. 42-1-560(b), the Defendants shall have a lien on the proceeds of any recovery from any third party whether by judgment, settlement or otherwise, to the extent of the total amount of compensation, including medical and other expenses paid by the Defendants.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-50 provides the procedure for appealing a Hearing Commissioner's Order; however, "only issues within the application are preserved for the full Commission." Creech v. Ducane Co., 320 S.C. 559, 476, S.E.2d 114, *reh'g denied, cert. denied* (Ct. App. 1995). Furthermore, all findings of fact and law by the Hearing Commissioner "become and are the law of the case, except only those within the scope of the exception." Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co., 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2s 712 (1940). Here, the Claimant did not raise any exception to the above-reference conclusions of law and the Commission's Appellate Panel lacked the authority or jurisdiction to extend the fourteen days permitted for the perfecting of an appeal. Allison v. W.L. Gore & Assoc., 394 S.C. 185, 714 S.E.2d 547 (2011).<sup>3</sup>

Therefore, regardless of any argument the Claimant makes under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560, the issue is moot because the Claimant is not entitled to any additional medical or compensation benefits under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act as a matter of law. According to the South Carolina Supreme Court, "an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case." Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (citing Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159, 160-61, 177 S.E.2d 544 (1970)). In addition, mere "conclusory statements unaccompanied by argument and citation to authority are insufficient to preserve an issue for appellate review." State v. Crocker, 366 S.C. 394, 621 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P'ship, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding that failure to provide argument or supporting authority for

an issue renders it abandoned)). Due to his failure to raise any exception to Conclusions 4, 5, 6, 7, or 8 in his Form 30 and his failure to raise any argument regarding Conclusions 4, 5, 6, 7, or 8 in his brief to the Appellate Panel or the Court of Appeals,<sup>5</sup> the Respondents respectfully contend that the Claimant's appeal is moot and otherwise without merit and further respectfully contend that the Workers' Compensation Commission's final Decision and Order should be affirmed in its entirety as a matter of law.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> Note that due to an obvious typographical error, the Appellate Panel's Decision and Order refers to these same conclusions of law as numbers 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15.

<sup>6</sup> It is well settled that issues for which no legal authority is cited are abandoned on appeal. See, e.g., Colleton County Taxpayers Ass'n v. School Dist. of Colleton County, 371 S.C. 224, 242, 638 S.E.2d 685, 694 (2006); First Sav. Bank v. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994); R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth., 343 S.C. 424, 437, 540 S.E.2d 113, 120 (Ct. App. 2000). Indeed, our courts have often reiterated that even "[a]n issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court." Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 496-97 (Ct. App. 2006); Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P'ship, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 284 (Ct. App. 1993); Bell v. Bennett, 307 S.C. 286, 294, 414 S.E.2d 786, 791 (Ct. App. 1992). South Carolina law is also well settled that a trial court's or hearing officer's unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case. See, e.g., Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Housing Corp., 338 S.C. 171, 175, 525 S.E.2d

**II. The Claimant's arguments are impermissibly based upon facts not in evidence and are not properly before the Court of Appeals.**

The Claimant makes repeated, specific references to facts not in evidence and to documents that were excluded from the record below in support of his arguments on appeal.<sup>7</sup> Specifically, the Claimant sought to introduce newly-manufactured evidence by motion dated December 20, 2014. (R. pp. 177-79). This motion was denied by Order dated January 3, 2014. (R. pp: 16-17). The Claimant did not appeal the Commission's January 3, 2014 Order to the Court of Appeals. The Claimant's March 8, 2016 Notice of Appeal filed with the Court of Appeals makes no mention of the Commission's January 3, 2014 Order and that Order was not otherwise attached to the Notice, as specifically required by Rule 203(d)(2)(B)ii and Rule 203(e)(2)(C), S.C.A.C.R. (R. pp. 222-24). Therefore, the Claimant cannot now be heard to complain about the propriety of the Commission's January 3, 2014 decision to deny the Claimant's motion to introduce additional evidence, because "an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case." Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C.

---

869, 871 (2000) (finding that an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmation); Mid-South Mgmt. Co. v. Sherwood Devel. Corp., 374 S.C. 588, 596 n.3, 649 S.E.2d 135, 139 n.3 (Ct. App. 2007); Fickling v. City of Charleston, 372 S.C. 597, 599, 643 S.E.2d 110, 112 n.1 (Ct. App. 2007).

<sup>7</sup> The Claimant refers to this document, which was specifically excluded from evidence by the Commission, as a "stipulation."

323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (citing Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159, 160-61, 177 S.E.2d 544 (1970)).

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals lacks appellate jurisdiction to consider arguments regarding the admissibility of additional evidence because the Claimant did not comply with Rule 203, S.C.A.C.R. See State v. Brown, 358 S.C. 382, 596 S.E.2e 39 (2004) (holding that an appellant's failure to comply with the procedural rules for appeal deprives the court of appellate jurisdiction). The Court of Appeals also lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the Claimant's evidentiary arguments because S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60 and S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(1) make the unappealed Order of January 3, 2014 conclusive and binding. Therefore, it would be improper for the Court of Appeals to either reverse the Commission's decision on the admissibility of the Claimant's new evidence, or to take judicial notice thereof as the Claimant now requests.

However, the entirety of the Claimant's arguments on appeal concern these facts and documents which were not admitted into evidence by the Commission and which are not properly before the Court of Appeals. The Respondents respectfully contend that such arguments based on facts not in evidence are improper. Rule 208(b)(4), S.C.A.C.R., specifically requires that a party's "brief shall contain references to the transcript, pleadings, orders, exhibits, or other materials which may be properly included in the Record on Appeal." Because facts and documents not admitted into evidence by the Commission are not properly included in the Record on Appeal pursuant to Rule 210(c), S.C.A.C.R., the Respondents request that arguments made in reliance on such improper references be rejected by the Court of Appeals. See Altichiler v. Dept. of Prof.

Reg., 442 S.2d 349, 350 (Fla. Dist. App. 1st 1983) (“That an appellate court may not consider matters outside the record is so elemental that there is no excuse for an attorney to attempt to bring such matters before the court.”).

**III. The Workers’ Compensation Commission properly concluded that the Claimant has failed to satisfy the mandatory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560 based upon substantial evidence in the record and the applicable law.**

The Claimant commenced a civil action against a third-party as a result of the same August 10, 2011 accident for which he seeks workers' compensation benefits by filing a counterclaim against Robbie Clark in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on February 20, 2013. (R. pp. 161–69). The Claimant did not file or serve a Form S2 on the Employer, Carrier, or the Commission within thirty days after commencing the third-party action on February 20, 2013 and did not otherwise notify the Employer, Carrier or the commission that this third-party action had been commenced. As a result, the Commission concluded that the Claimant had failed to comply with the mandatory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560. (R. pp. 19–31). The Respondents respectfully request that the Court of Appeals affirm this conclusion based upon substantial evidence in the record and the applicable law.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560 sets forth the requirements for simultaneously pursuing a third-party civil action and a workers' compensation claim. The statute provides that:

"Notice of the commencement of the [third-party] action shall<sup>8</sup> be given within thirty days thereafter to the [Commission], the employer and carrier upon a form prescribed by the [Commission]." (emphasis added)

In fact, the only way a claimant may proceed against both an employer/carrier and against a third-party tortfeasor is by complying with the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560. Fisher v. S.C. Dept. of Mental Retardation, 277 S.C. 5763, 575, 291 S.E.2d 200, 201 (1982); Hudson v. Townsend Saw Chain Co., 296 S.C. 17, 20, 370 S.E.2d 104, 106 (Ct. App. 1988) (holding that § 42-1-560(b) "plainly requires an employee, when he or she brings a third-party action, to give notice to the Commission, the employer, and the employer's carrier of the commencement of the third-party action within 30 days of its commencement"). Because the Claimant did not file or serve a Form S-2 (the notice form prescribed by the Commission) or otherwise provide any notice of the commencement of the third-party action to the Commission, the Employer, or the Carrier within thirty days,

---

<sup>8</sup> "The use of the term 'shall' in a statute means that the action is mandatory." Johnston v. S.C. Dept. of Labor, Licensing, and Reg., 365 S.C. 293, 296-97, 617 S.E.2d 363, 364 (2005) (citing Wigfall v. Tideland Utils., Inc., 354 S.C. 100, 111, 580 S.E.2d 100, 105 (2003)).

the Claimant failed to satisfy the mandatory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560.

Furthermore, the Workers' Compensation Act is in derogation of common law rights, and; therefore, the terms and requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560 must be strictly construed. Callahan v. Beaufort Co. Sch. Dist., 375 S.C. 92, 651 S.E.2d 311 (2007). Even though Respondents are entitled to maintain their lien on the proceeds of any recovery from the third-party whether by judgment, settlement, or otherwise and despite the fact that the Respondents have "not lost [their] right of subrogation against the responsible third-party, the statutory provision mandates notice to the employer, carrier, and the Commission within thirty days of filing the third-party suit." Callahan, supra. According to the South Carolina Supreme Court, "42-1-560(b) must be strictly followed in order for a claimant to preserve [the] right to proceed against both an employer and a third-party." Callahan, supra. Because the Claimant has not followed the mandatory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560, but has ignored them entirely, the Claimant has failed to preserve his right to proceed against the employer for additional benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act after the date he commenced the third-party action, February 20, 2013.

The Claimant would argue that his admitted failure to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560 could somehow be "cured" by voluntarily dismissing this third-party lawsuit and then simply re-filing. The Respondents respectfully contend that the Claimant should not be permitted to grossly circumvent the clear statutory requirements in this manner. To date, there is no case law on this

issue and the Supreme Court has previously declined to address the "efficacy" of a re-filing. See Callahan, *supra*, at n.1. Should the Claimant voluntarily dismiss his third-party suit and then re-file, then the third-party suit filed on February 20, 2013 could no longer be considered a "nullity" and to suggest that the Commission should pretend that the February 20, 2013 suit was never filed under such circumstances would entail a grossly prejudicial legal fiction. Therefore, the Respondents respectfully contend that that the Hearing Commissioner's Decision and Order should not be reversed based on facts not in evidence, hypothetical scenarios, or newly-manufactured events.

**IV. The Claimant's argument regarding the timeliness or propriety of the Respondents' argument under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560 is untenable.**

The Claimant admits that he filed a third-party suit against Robbie Clark and his insurance carrier in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on February 20, 2013 and concealed this fact from the Respondents and the Workers' Compensation Commission for over eight (8) months while he completed discovery and sought to settle that claim. (R. pp. 170-72). Because the Claimant concealed the fact of his third-party suit from the Respondents, in clear violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560, the Respondents were unable to raise S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-560 as a defense to the claim for benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act until the Claimant's illegal and improper concealment was revealed. Yet, the Claimant now argues that it was somehow

untimely or prejudicial for the Respondents to raise these material facts upon discovery. The Respondents respectfully contend that the Claimant's argument in this regard is untenable.

Specifically, the Claimant now contends that his due process rights were somehow infringed upon when the Commission granted the Respondents' Motion to introduce the Claimant's third-party pleadings into evidence. However, the Commission did not prevent the Claimant from responding to this Motion or the arguments contained therein. "Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." Stono River Env'tl. Protection Ass'n v. South Carolina Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control, 305 S.C. 90, 94, 406 S.E.2d 340, 341 (1991) (citing Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 481, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972)). To prove the denial of due process in an administrative proceeding, a party must show that it was substantially prejudiced by the administrative process. Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. South Carolina Public Service Comm'n, 282 S.C. 430, 319 S.E.2d 695 (1984) (citing Ka Fung Chan v. Immigration and Naturalization Serv., 634 F.2d 248 (5th Cir. 1981)).

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